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Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of GeNeuro SA and its subsidiaries (the Group),
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018 and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018 and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and
Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements” section of
our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of
the Swiss audit profession, as well as the IESBA Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Our audit approach
Overview

Overall Group materiality: EUR 184,000
We have performed full scope audit work on the Swiss entity and
specified procedures on the French and Australian entities.
As key audit matters the following areas of focus have been identified:
- Revenue from contract with customer
- Assessment of liquidity and financing plans
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Audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.
The Group is comprised of three entities located in three different countries, namely Switzerland, France
and Australia. The Group financial statements are a consolidation of these three entities comprising the
Group's operating business and centralised functions. Based on the client's operations we have performed
full scope audit work on the Swiss entity, and specified procedures on the French and Australian entities.
Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. Our audit opinion aims to provide
reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
the consolidated financial statements.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall Group materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out in the
table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit
and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements,
both individually and in aggregate, on the consolidated financial statements as a whole.
Overall Group materiality

EUR 184,000

How we determined it

1% of total expenses

Rationale for the materiality
benchmark applied

We have used total expenses as the benchmark because, in our view,
it is the benchmark that gives an indication of cash burn, which is
relevant to the shareholders, and an indication of the R&D effort
against which the activity of the Group is most commonly measured,
and is a generally accepted benchmark.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements above EUR 18'000
identified during our audit as well as any misstatements below that amount which, in our view, warranted
reporting for qualitative reasons.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Revenue from contract with customer
Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The main source of income generated by the
Group, relates to the collaboration agreement with
Laboratoires Servier (the “Agreement”).

With the support of our financial reporting specialists, we assessed the application of the accounting policy for research and development
agreements in accordance with the new standard.

At January 1, 2018 the company implemented the
new financial reporting standard IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers. Under this
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standard, the company must identify its performance obligations under the standard, allocate the
transaction price amongst the performance obligations and then determine whether the related income should be recorded over time or at a point in
time.
The Group has recognized EUR 7,233 K in income
generated from the Agreement during the 12
months ended 31 December 2018. The recognition
of income from the collaboration agreement is
based on the stage of completion of the rendering
of research and development services. This is assessed by reference to the proportion of costs incurred for the work performed at the balance
sheet date relative to the estimated total costs of
the agreement at completion.
During the year, the Group determined that the
performance obligation had been fully satisfied
which resulted in the recognition of all related
contract liabilities as income for the period ended
31 December 2018.

We read the Agreement and discussed with management the business and scientific rationale behind the various elements. We then compared
Management’s identification of the performance
obligations in the contract with our own, as well
as, the determination, and allocation of the transaction price to the respective performance obligations. Finally we challenged Management’s conclusions as to the principle versus agent considerations, whether income shall be recognised overtime or at a point in time, and subsequently, if and
when the performance obligations have been satisfied.
On the basis of the above procedures, we agree
with management’s judgements and estimates and
did not identify any information that may evidence that income had been improperly recognized.

We focused on this area due to the significance of
the income recognized, the complex nature of the
Agreement, judgements involved in identifying
performance obligations, allocating the transaction price and in determining the pattern of income recognition.
Refer to Note 13 Income.
Assessment of liquidity and financing plans
Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As a development stage biotech entity, the Group
continues to be loss making and for 2018 disclosed a cash outflow of EUR 17,497 K and a loss
of EUR 8,328 K. In addition, in September 2018,
Servier confirmed that they would not exercise the
option to license GNbAC1.

We assessed the intent and ability of the Board of
Directors and of Management to implement and
execute measures to be taken to ensure sufficient
liquidity and financing to ensure the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

As described in note 2.1, in December 2018, the
Group signed a EUR 7,500 K Credit Facility
Agreement and in February 2019, the Board of
Directors approved of a revised budget, containing
an action plan to contain costs and preserve liquidity.
As a result of these factors, we consider the assessment of liquidity and financing plans of the Group
to be a key audit matter.

We obtained management’s budget analysis of the
cash balance and forecasted cash outflows, tested
them for mathematical accuracy and ensured that
the future expenditures were in line with historical
cash-outflows after taking into account any expected changes based on changes in the Group’s
business.
We obtained and reviewed the executed Credit Facility Agreement provided by GNEH SAS, a subsidiary of Institut Mérieux and a shareholder of
the Group. We agreed the EUR 2,500 K cash receipt to the company’s bank statement.
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Refer to Note 2.1 Basis of preparation.

We reviewed management’s operating plans to
procure new funding for further clinical trials
through establishing a new partnership and/or external fund-raising (including a potential capital
increase).
We obtained and tested management’s analysis
and calculation of the cost reduction plan. Additionally, we corroborated management’s explanations and calculations to the underlying documentation and ensured that the plan was approved by
obtaining and reviewing the minutes of the meeting of the Board of Directors on 27 February 2019.
On the basis of the above procedures performed,
we did not identify any evidence that would contradict management’s estimates in relation to liquidity and financing plans of the Group to support its operations.

Other information in the annual report
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information comprises all information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements, the stand-alone financial statements and the remuneration report of GeNeuro SA and
our auditor’s reports thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information in the annual
report and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information in the annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such internal
control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards will always de-
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tect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that
an internal control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.
We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.
PricewaterhouseCoopers SA

Michael Foley

Filippos Mintiloglitis

Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Audit expert

Genève, 29 March 2019

Enclosure:
• Consolidated financial statements (consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated income
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated cash flow statement and notes)
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IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements for the Financial Years Ended
December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND DECEMBER 31, 2017
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
GENEURO

12/31/2018

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

12/31/2017

Notes

(in thousands of EUR)
ASSETS
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Non-current financial assets
Total non-current assets

3
4
5, 7

1,163.2
100.7
339.9
1,603.8

1,130.5
125.2
527.4
1,783.1

Other current assets
Current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

6
5, 7
7

3,452.9
34.1
8,961.4
12,448.4

1,918.5
65.6
26,602.4
28,586.5

14,052.2

30,369.6

614.7
53,706.3
323.2
(1,106.3)
(47,983.0)
5,554.9

614.7
53,693.6
233.4
(1,303.2)
(40,181.7)
13,056.8

5,554.9

13,056.8

11
7, 10

1,795.5
186.2
132.4
2,114.1

1,493.8
215.0
83.8
1,792.6

7, 10
7, 12
7, 12
12

34.1
5,434.6
914.5
6,383.2

3,473.8
4,813.3
7,233.1
15,520.2

14,052.2

30,369.6

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Equity
Capital
Additional paid-in capital
Cumulative translation adjustments
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit attributable to owners of the parent
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
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Total equity
Non-current liabilities
Employee benefit obligations
Non-current financial liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Current financial liabilities
Trade payables
Other current liabilities
Contract liability, current
Current liabilities
Total Liabilities and Equity

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Income Statement
Notes

GENEURO
Consolidated Income Statement
(in thousands of EUR)

12/31/2018
12 months

12/31/2017
12 months

Income

13

7,463.1

14,948.8

Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses
Subsidies
General and administrative expenses
Other income
Operating loss

14
14
14
13

(12,847.8)
1,917.9
(4,685.8)
64.0
(8,088.6)

(17,523.2)
1,361.8
(4,596.5)
69.2
(5,739.9)

21.3
(260.5)
(239.2)

0.3
(97.6)
(97.3)

(8,327.8)

(5,837.2)

(8,327.8)

(5,837.2)

12/31/2018
(0.57)
(0.57)

12/31/2017
(0.40)
(0.40)

12/31/2018
12 months

12/31/2017
12 months

Financial income
Financial expenses
Financial income (expenses), net

15

Pre-tax loss
Income tax (expense)
Net loss for the period

16

Basic loss per share (EUR/share)
Diluted loss per share (EUR/share)

17
17

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
GENEURO
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income
(in thousands of EUR)
Net loss for the period

(8,327.8)

Actuarial gains (losses) - employee benefits
Net other comprehensive income (loss) that will not be reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods
Currency translation differences
Net other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods
Total other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive loss

196.9

(517.8)

196.9

(517.8)

89.8

31.2

89.8

31.2

286.7

(486.6)

(8,041.1)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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(5,837.2)

(6,323.8)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Capital

GENEURO
Consolidated Changes in Equity
At December 31, 2016
Net loss 2017
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive loss
Share-based payments
Treasury shares
At December 31, 2017
Net loss 2018
Other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income (loss)
Split of the nominal value
Shares issued
Share capital increase costs
Share-based payments
Treasury shares
At December 31, 2018

Notes

Share Capital Additional Accumulated
Ordinary
paid-in
deficit and net
shares
capital loss attributable
at nominal
to owners of
value
the parent

Cumulative
translation
adjustments

Other
comprehensive
income
(loss)

Shareholders'
equity

In thousands of EUR

Number of
shares
14,658,118

614.7
614.7
614.7

9
14,658,118

9
14,658,118

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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53,692.1
1.5
53,693.6
12.7
53,706.3

(35,055.3)
(5,837.2)
(5,837.2)
716.1
(5.3)
(40,181.7)
(8,327.8)
(8,327.8)
689.8
(163.3)
(47,983.0)

202.2
31.2
31.2
233.4
89.8
89.8
323.2

(785.4)
(517.8)
(517.8)
(1,303.2)
196.9
196.9
(1,106.3)

18,668.3
(5,837.2)
(486.6)
(6,323.8)
716.1
(3.8)
13,056.8
(8,327.8)
286.7
(8,041.1)
689.8
(150.6)
5,554.9

IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements for the Financial Years Ended
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
GENEURO
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
(in thousands of EUR)

Notes

Cash flow from operating activities
Net loss for the period
Adjusted by the reversal of:
Amortization of intangible assets
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Change in provision for defined benefit obligation
Share-based payment expense
Financial expense, net
Unwinding of advances
(Increase)/Decrease in Other non-current financial assets
(Increase)/Decrease in Other current financial assets
Increase in Other current assets
Increase in Trade payables and related accounts
Increase in Other non-current liabilities
Decrease in Other current liabilities
Decrease in Contract liability
Increase/(Decrease) in deposits from sub-rental

3
4
11
9
10
5
5
6
12
12
12

Cash outflow from operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisitions of intangible assets
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment
Cash outflow from investing activities

3
4

Cash flow from financing activities
Sale of treasury shares resulting from exercise of options
Cash flow from financing activities
Decrease in cash
Cash & cash equivalents - beginning of period
Impact of exchange rate fluctuations
Cash & cash equivalents - end of period
Decrease in cash

12/31/2018
12 months

(8,327.8)

(5,837.2)

13.7
55.0
448.5
689.8
239.2
4.1
(59.7)
32.2
(1,533.0)
1,984.6
48.6
(3,890.6)
(7,233.1)
(1.3)

13.3
59.1
22.9
716.1
97.3
(2.8)
31.9
(70.5)
(479.0)
489.4
45.6
(173.7)
(2,593.8)
35.8

(17,529.8)

(7,645.6)

(46.4)
(30.5)
(76.9)

(42.5)
(30.6)
(73.1)

37.6
37.6

3.8
3.8

(17,569.1)

(7,714.9)

26,602.4
(71.9)

34,489.4
(172.1)

8,961.4

26,602.4

(17,569.1)

(7,714.9)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unless indicated otherwise, the amounts mentioned in these Notes are in thousands)

Note 1: Company overview
The following information constitutes the Notes to the consolidated financial statements and forms an integral part
of the consolidated financial statements presented for the financial years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.
Each of these years covers a 12‐month period from January 1 to December 31.
Incorporated on January 31, 2006, GeNeuro SA (“GeNeuro”) is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical Swiss limited
company (société anonyme) which develops therapies and companion-diagnostic tools. GeNeuro is focused on
novel treatments for Central Nervous System and other human endogenous retrovirus (“HERV”)-mediated
diseases, with a first indication in multiple sclerosis. GeNeuro’s lead therapeutic candidate, temelimab (or GNbAC1),
is a humanized monoclonal antibody that neutralizes a HERV protein called MSRV-Env that has been identified as
a potentially central key factor fueling the inflammatory and neurodegenerative components of multiple sclerosis.
The Company has been listed on Euronext in Paris since April 18, 2016.
The Company’s registered office is at 3, chemin du Pré-Fleuri - CH-1228 Plan-les-Ouates - Geneva – Switzerland.
It has two subsidiaries, GeNeuro Innovation SAS, which was established in France in 2009, and GeNeuro Australia
Pty Ltd, incorporated in Australia in 2016.
Eclosion 2 & Cie SCPC is the largest shareholder of the Company as at December 31, 2018, with a stake of 43.44%
in the Company.
GeNeuro is hereinafter referred to as “GeNeuro”, the “Company” or the “Group”.

Note 2: Significant accounting policies
2.1 Basis of preparation
Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards
GeNeuro has prepared its financial statements, approved by the Board of Directors on March 28, 2019, in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) as at the preparation date of the financial statements, for all the periods presented.
Historical cost convention
The Group’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except with
respect to certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value and the plan assets included in the
calculation of the defined benefit pension plan liability, which are also measured at fair value.
Going concern
GeNeuro SA is a biopharmaceutical company at the clinical stage developing innovative therapeutics. The
Company is exposed to all risks inherent in establishing and developing its business, including the substantial
uncertainty that current projects will succeed.
The Company’s success may also depend on its ability to:
•
•
•
•

establish and maintain strong patent position and protection;
enter into collaborations with partners in the pharmaceutical industry;
acquire and retain key personnel;
acquire additional funding to support its operations.

Pursuant to the Servier Agreement, following completion of the Phase IIb clinical trial in multiple sclerosis (MS),
Servier had an option to extend the license temelimab for MS worldwide, except the United States and Japan, for
which GeNeuro had retained all rights; in such case, Servier would also have had to fund the global development
of temelimab in MS, including in the territories for which GeNeuro had retained the rights. Following Servier’s
decision in September 2018 not to extend its license temelimab, GeNeuro now requires other sources of funding to
continue its development in MS and has expanded the geographical and therapeutic approach scopes of its
discussions with potential partners to define next steps in developing temelimab for MS.
In March 2019, the Company issued a first drawdown notice to GNEH SAS, for €2.5 million, which it received on
March 25, 2019.
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The Company is required to perform an assessment of its ability to continue as a going concern. This assessment
takes into account (i) the Company’s current cash position, which includes the €2.5 million first draw-down on the
GNEH SA credit facility, (ii) the Credit Facility Agreement provided by its shareholder GNEH SAS, a subsidiary of
Institut Mérieux (see Note 19.5), which allows the Company, until May 31, 2019, to draw up to €5.0 million in addition
loans, and (iii) its operating plans, as approved by its Board of Directors.
These operating plans are centered on procuring new funding for further clinical trials in the MS indication, which
the Company pursues through a dual track approach: a new partnership, as described above, and/or external fund
raising, including a potential capital increase. At present there are no commitments or imminent plans, and therefore
no committed costs, to launch a new clinical trial with temelimab.
In the event however that the Company would be unable to achieve either of these strategic goals, it would then
implement an action plan, approved by its Board of Directors at its meeting on February 27, 2019, to contain costs
and conserve cash so as to allow it to be able to cover its cash outflows.
As a result of this assessment, management has concluded that the Company can continue to operate under the
going concern assumption for at least one year from the date these financial statements are issued. Hence, the
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Liquidity risk management is assessed in Note 20.
Consistency of accounting policies
The accounting policies applied are the same as those used for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements at December 31, 2017.
New standards, updates and interpretations adopted by the Group
The new standards adopted by the Group comprise:
•
•

IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (effective from January 1, 2018)
IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers” (effective from January 1, 2018)

There has been no significant impact on its financial statements from the first-time adoption of these new standards.
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” substantially changes the classiﬁcation and measurement of ﬁnancial instruments.
The new standard requires impairments of financial assets to be based on a forward-looking model, changes the
approach to hedging ﬁnancial exposures and related documentation, changes the recognition of certain fair value
changes and amends disclosures requirements. Under the new standard, an expected credit loss model, rather
than the previous current incurred loss model,is used to assess the impairment of financial assets, including trade
receivables. Given the limited size and nature of GeNeuro’s financial assets, the Group has not been impacted by
this change. The Group has implemented the new standard on January 1, 2018 and applied the modified
retrospective method, which requires the recognition of the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 9, as at
January 1, 2018, to retained earnings and has not restated prior years.
IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers” amends revenue recognition requirements and establishes
principles for reporting information about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash ﬂows
arising from contracts with customers. The standard replaces IAS 18 “Revenue” and IAS 11 “Construction contracts”
and related interpretations. IFRS 15 applies to income from contracts with the Group’s collaboration partners, under
which the Group receives milestone payments. The adoption by GeNeuro of IFRS 15 has not changed the timing
or amount of revenue recognized under these agreements. The Group has implemented the new standard on
January 1, 2018 and applied the modified retrospective method, which requires the recognition of the cumulative
effect of initially applying IFRS 15, as at January 1, 2018, to retained earnings, and has accordingly not restated
prior years. However, since the results of the Group’s impact assessment indicate that IFRS 15 has not changed
the amount or timing of revenue recognition in 2017 or prior periods, there has been no cumulative impact of the
transition to IFRS 15 recorded as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity as at the date of initial application
(January 1, 2018).
New standards, updates and interpretations not yet adopted by the Group
The new standards not yet adopted by the Group comprise:
•

IFRS 16 “Leases” (effective from January 1, 2019)

IFRS 16 eliminates the distinction between operating leases and finance leases and requires all leases to be
recognized on the lessee’s balance sheet, in the form of an asset (representing the right to use the rented asset
during the duration of the contract) and of a liability (corresponding to the future lease payments). The standard will
also impact the presentation of the income statement (allocation of expense between operating income and financial
charges) and of the cash flow statement (allocation of cash outflows between cash flow from operating activities
and cash flow from financing activities).
Please refer to note 19.2 for the estimated impact of the adoption of IFRS 16.
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2.2 Consolidation methods
Subsidiaries are all the entities over which the Company has control. The Company controls an entity when it is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which the Company
acquires control. They are deconsolidated from the date on which control ceases.
Intra‐group transactions and balances are eliminated. The accounting policies of the subsidiaries have been aligned
with those of the Company.
As of the date of the publication of these consolidated financial statements, the Company had two subsidiaries:
•
•

GeNeuro Innovation SAS, 100% of the voting rights and interests held throughout the periods presented.
GeNeuro Australia Pty Ltd, 100% of the voting rights and interests held throughout the periods presented.

Therefore, GeNeuro SA (parent company based in Switzerland) presents consolidated financial statements that
include the financial statements of its subsidiaries GeNeuro Innovation SAS and GeNeuro Australia Pty Ltd for the
fiscal years ended on December 31, 2017 and 2018.
2.3 Use of judgments and estimates
To prepare the financial statements in accordance with IFRS, the Company has made judgments and estimates
that could affect the amounts presented under assets and liabilities as at the reporting date, and the amounts
presented under income and expenses for the period.
Such estimates are made by the Company’s management based on the assumption of going concern and on the
information available at the time. These estimates are ongoing and are based on past experience as well as diverse
other factors judged to be reasonable and form the basis for the assessments of the book value of assets and
liabilities. The estimates may be revised if the circumstances on which they are based change or as a result of new
information. Actual results may differ significantly from such estimates if assumptions or conditions change.
The significant estimates or judgments made by the Company relate to the following in particular:
•

Revenue recognition:
o The Company recognizes income for R&D services based on the ratio of costs incurred and
estimated costs incurred to complete in study budget. This estimate is reviewed and updated
each year-end. Refer to Note 2.22.
o The Company allocates the consideration received under contracts that contain multiple
performance obligations using stand-alone selling price.
o The amount of revenue recognized in 2017 and 2018 is detailed in Note 13.1.

•

Measurement of stock-options issued to employees, executives and external service providers:
o The fair‐value measurement of share‐based payments is based on the Black & Scholes option
valuation model which makes assumptions about complex and subjective variables. These
variables notably include the value of the Company’s shares, the expected volatility of the share
price over the lifetime of the instrument, and the present and future behaviour of the holders of
those instruments. There is a high inherent risk of subjectivity when using an option valuation
model to measure the fair value of share‐based payments in accordance with IFRS 2.
o The valuation assumptions adopted are disclosed in Note 9.

•

Defined benefit plans:
o Defined benefit schemes are recognized in the statement of financial position based on an
actuarial valuation of the obligations at period‐end, minus the fair value of the scheme assets.
This valuation is determined using the projected unit credit method, taking into account staff
turnover, mortality probability and actuarial assumptions based on management estimates.
o The valuation assumptions adopted are disclosed in Note 11.

2.4 Foreign currency translation
Functional currency
As of January 1, 2016, owing to the evolution of the parent company’s financing (initial public offering on Euronext
Paris), to the implementation of the cooperation contract with Laboratoires Servier, whose milestone payments are
in euros, and to the launch of the Phase IIb clinical trial whose costs are also in euros, the parent company has
changed its functional currency to adopt the euro (EUR or €) instead of the Swiss franc (CHF).
All items were converted into the new functional currency by using the exchange rate at the time (rate as of
December 31, 2015: 1.0835 CHF for 1 EUR), except for shareholders’ equity which was converted at the applicable
historical rates.
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Reporting currency
The Group uses the euro (EUR or €) as the reporting currency for its consolidated financial statements.
Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional currency
spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.
Group companies
The financial statements of GeNeuro Australia Pty Ltd, whose functional currency is the Australian dollar and not
the euro, are translated as follows:
•
•
•

Statement of financial position items (excluding shareholders’ equity) are translated at the year-end closing
rate;
Income statement items are translated at the average annual rate;
Equity items are translated at the historical rate.

The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognized in other comprehensive income.
The exchange rates used for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Exchange rate (AUD per EUR)

12/31/2018
Weighted
Closing rate
average rate

Autralian dollar (AUD)

1.5797

1.6220

12/31/2017
Weighted
Closing rate
average rate
1.4729

1.5346

Based on exchange rates provided by Banque de France

2.5 Distinction between current and non-current
In its statement of financial position, the Group makes a distinction between current and non-current assets and
liabilities.
The following rules were applied to distinguish current from non‐current items:
•
•

assets and liabilities constituting working capital circulating in the normal course of business are classified
as "current";
assets and liabilities not being turned over in the normal course of business are presented as “current” or
“non-current” depending on whether their maturity is longer or shorter than one year from the balance
sheet date.

2.6 Intangible assets
Research and development expenses
Research and development costs are recognized as expenses when they are incurred. Costs incurred on
development projects are recognized as intangible assets when the following criteria are fulfilled:
•
•
•
•
•
•

it is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
management intends to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
there is an ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset are available;
the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development can be reliably measured.

In the opinion of management, due to uncertainties inherent in the development of the Group’s products, the criteria
for development costs to be recognized as an asset, as prescribed by IAS 38, “Intangible Assets”, are not met.
As a result, internal development expenses incurred (mainly consisting of the cost of preclinical experiments, clinical
trials and production cost of temelimab) are recognized under research and development (“R&D”) expenses at the
point that they are incurred.
Licenses
Licenses acquired by the Company to access intellectual property are recognized under intangible assets. The
amortization of such licenses over their useful lives shall start upon marketing approval of the related products.
Contingent payments
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The acquisition of certain intangible assets, mainly licenses, may involve additional payments contingent on the
occurrence of specific events or milestones. Unless the Group already has a present obligation to make the payment
at a future date, the initial measurement of the intangible asset does not include such contingent payments. Instead,
such payments are subsequently capitalized as intangible assets when the contingency or milestone occurs.
Software
Software license acquisition costs are recognized as assets on the basis of the costs incurred in acquiring them
and in making the software concerned operational.
Amortization
Amortization is calculated using the straight‐line method to spread the cost over the estimated useful life,
specifically:
Items

Amortization period

Software

1 to 3 years

Amortization expense is recognized in the income statement under “General and administrative expenses”.
2.7 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at their acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset.
The following depreciation periods are used:
Items

Depreciation period

Office and computer equipment
Laboratory equipment
General facilities, fixtures and fittings

3 to 5 years
3 to 5 years
5 years

The depreciation expense for property, plant and equipment is recognized in the income statement under:
•
•

“General and administrative expenses” for depreciation of general facilities, fixtures and fittings; office and
computer equipment;
“Research and development expenses” for laboratory equipment.

2.8 Lease agreements
Lease agreements, in which substantially all risks and benefits are retained by the landlord, are treated as operating
leases. The payments made for operating leases, net of incentive fees, are recognized under expenses in the
income statement using the straight-line method over the term of the contract.
2.9 Recoverable value of non-current assets
Non-current assets that are not yet being amortized or depreciated, such as licenses, are tested for impairment at
the end of the period in which they are acquired and subsequently annually, and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
Non-current assets that are subject to amortization or depreciation are subjected to an impairment test whenever
an internal or external factor indicates that an asset may have lost value.
Impairment is recognized when the book value of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable value. The
recoverable value of an asset is its fair value less selling costs, or its value in use, whichever is higher.
Any impairment charge is recognized in the income statement under the same category as the amortization or
depreciation of the same asset.
As at December 31, 2018, none of the non‐current assets presented an internal or external indication of impairment.
2.10 Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets are classified into two categories depending on their nature and the purpose for which
they are held:
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•
•

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;
financial assets at amortized cost.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset.
All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the settlement date.
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss consist of currency derivatives and are presented in current
financial assets.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the “financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”
category are presented in the income statement within “Financial income (loss)” in the period in which they arise.
The Group may opt to classify other assets within this category.
Financial assets at amortized cost
This category includes other assets (refer to Note 6) and other financial assets (refer to Notes 5 and 8).
Other assets are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate method. A provision for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that
the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the invoice. The amount of
the provision is the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount and is recognized in the
income statement.
Non‐current financial assets include the cash reserve linked to the liquidity contract (Refer to Note 5). These are
non‐derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not listed on an active market.
2.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents recognized in the statement of financial position include cash positions at banks and
cash at hand.
Term deposits with an initial maturity of less than three months are classified as cash equivalent. Cash equivalents
are held for trading purposes, easily convertible into a known amount of cash and exposed to negligible risk that
they will change in value.
For cash flow statement purposes, net cash consists of cash and cash equivalents as defined above.
2.12 Fair value of financial instruments
The nominal values of trade receivables and trade payables are considered to approximate to their fair values,
given the very short payment maturities of these receivables. The same principle applies to other receivables and
other current liabilities.
The Company has established three categories of financial instruments depending on their valuation methods and
uses this classification to disclose some of the information required by IFRS 7:
•
•
•

Level 1: financial instruments listed on an active market;
Level 2: financial instruments whose valuation methods rely on observable inputs;
Level 3: financial instruments whose valuation methods rely entirely or partly on unobservable inputs, an
unobservable input being defined as one whose measurement relies on assumptions or correlations that
are not based on the prices of observable market transactions for a given instrument or on observable
market data on the valuation date.

The instruments held by the Company recognized at fair value through profit and loss at December 31, 2017, are
current financial assets (currency derivatives) that are classified within Level 1. There were no such instruments
held by the Company at December 31, 2018.
2.13 Public subsidies receivable
The Company benefits from public subsidies and grants as disclosed below.
Subsidies and grants
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Grants received from public entities to subsidize certain types of expenditure are recognized when there is
reasonable assurance that the entity will comply with the conditions attached to obtaining the grants. They are
recognized as a reduction in the related expenditure, in this case research and development (R&D) expenses.
Research tax credits
The Group receives certain specific project-related research tax credits that are granted to companies incorporated
in France as an incentive for technical and scientific research. Companies with expenses that meet the eligibility
criteria receive a tax credit that (i) can offset against corporate income tax due in the year in which it is granted, as
well as in the following three financial years, or, (ii) under certain circumstances, can be paid to the Company.
Since January 1, 2017, the Group also benefits from research tax credits for its activities in Australia for the research
of new treatments against Type 1 diabetes linked to endogenous retroviruses. This research tax credit scheme
provides a tax credit of 43.5% of admissible research expenses.
The Group considers the research tax credits received from French and Australian tax authorities as government
grants as the tax credits are received independently from tax payments of the Group. The Group recognizes these
credits in the consolidated statement of financial position within other current receivables given the expected time
of collection and reasonable assurance of the collectability, and in the consolidated income statement under
research and development subsidies. The credits are recognized in the year in which the eligible expenses giving
rise to the tax credit are incurred.
2.14 Receivables and other current assets
Receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost.
A provision for impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to
collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the invoice. The amount of the provision is the difference
between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount and is recognized in the income statement.
Other receivables include the nominal values of research tax credits, which are recognized in assets in the year
when the eligible expenses giving rise to the tax credit are incurred.
The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets.
2.15 Capital
Classification as equity depends on specific analysis of the characteristics of each instrument issued.
Costs directly attributable to the issue of shares in a capital increase or in a capital increase as part of an initial
public offering project, are recognized, net of tax, as a deduction from equity. Refer to Note 8.
2.16 Treasury shares
In accordance with IAS 32, GeNeuro treasury shares are deducted from equity, irrespective of the purpose for which
they are held. No gain or loss is recognized in the income statement on the purchase, sale or cancellation of treasury
shares.
2.17 Share-based payments
Since its incorporation, the Company has implemented a compensation plan settled in equity instruments in the
form of stock-options and “Performance Share Option Units” (“PSOUs”) allocated to certain employees.
In accordance with IFRS 2, the cost of transactions settled in equity instruments is charged to expenses in the
period in which the rights to benefit from the equity instruments are acquired, and a corresponding amount is
credited to equity. The Company has applied IFRS 2 in accounting for all equity instruments granted to employees
and Board members.
The fair value of the stock-options and PSOUs granted to employees is measured using the Black & Scholes option
valuation model.
All assumptions used in measuring the value of such plans are disclosed in Note 9.
2.18 Provisions
Provisions are recognized for litigation and other risks when the Group has an obligation to a third party resulting
from a past event, it is probable that there will be an outflow of resources to settle the obligation and the future
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outflow of resources can be reliably estimated. The amount recognized in provisions is the estimated expense
necessary to extinguish the obligation, discounted if necessary at period‐end.
2.19 Employee benefit obligations
The Group provides retirement, death and disability benefits to its employees in line with local customs and
requirements through pension payments to Social Security bodies, which are funded by Company and employee
contributions in Switzerland and France, the two countries where the Company operates. The Company has no
employees in Australia.
The Group also provides retirement, death and disability benefits to its Swiss and French employees through the
following defined benefit scheme plans as follows:
•

Swiss employees of the Company are members of a compulsory company-wide defined benefit scheme
through a plan which is funded through employer (50%) and employee (50%) contributions to “La Bâloise”,
a Switzerland-based multi-employer plan (foundation). For the purpose of calculating contributions under
this plan, salaries are capped at CHF 150 (approximately EUR 132). This company-wide plan has been in
place since the inception of the Company and all Swiss employees of the Company are eligible for its
benefits. In addition, as of January 1, 2018, the Company has implemented an additional pension benefit
plan for its executive management to cover the portion of their salary in excess of CHF 150 (approximately
EUR 132). All Swiss executive managers of the Company are eligible for its benefits; this plan is funded
through employer (60%) and employee (40%) contributions to “La Bâloise”. On retirement, each plan
participant will receive his / her accumulated savings, which consist of all contributions paid in by the
employer and the employee (net of any withdrawals) and the interest granted on those savings, at a rate
which is fixed by the law up to a certain minimum level and at the discretion of the Council of the Foundation
thereafter. At the age of retirement, the plan participant has the right to choose between a lump-sum
payment or an annuity, or a combination thereof.

•

For French employees, the Company provides a retirement indemnity, through the payment by the
Company of a lump sum upon retirement.

Pension plans, similar compensation and other employee benefits that qualify as defined benefit schemes (in which
the Company guarantees an amount or defined level of benefits) are recognized in the statement of financial
position on the basis of an actuarial valuation of the scheme obligations at period‐end, minus the fair value of the
scheme assets.
The defined benefit obligations are calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit
method, taking into account staff turnover and mortality probability. The present value of the defined benefit
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using the interest rate of high-quality
corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to
maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability.
Current and past services as well as the net interest on the defined benefit obligation are recognized in the income
statement in the period in which they are incurred, and are presented as part of payroll expenses in the income
statement. Re-measurements of the defined benefit pension plans are recognized in other comprehensive income.
2.20 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are split into two categories and include:
•
financial liabilities recognized at amortized cost;
•
financial liabilities recognized at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial liabilities recognized at amortized cost
The Group’s financial liabilities consist of other payables and accruals which are classified as liabilities at amortized
cost according to IFRS 9.
Borrowings and other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The “less than 1 year” component of financial liabilities is
presented under “current financial liabilities”.
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortization is included within finance
costs in the income statement.
This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings.
Financial liabilities recognized at fair value through profit or loss
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For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018, the Group had no financial liability recognized at fair value
through profit or loss.
2.21 Income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities are amounts expected to be recovered from or paid to the tax authorities.
The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.
Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.
The main temporary differences relate to losses carried forward.
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilized.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.
Withholding taxes
Withholding taxes which are estimated to be not recoverable are recognized as an expense in the income
statement. No amounts have been expensed due to non-recoverability in the years ended December 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2018.
2.22 Revenue recognition
The company recognizes income from license fees, the provision of R&D services and management fees on the
arrangement of R&D services. Income is recognized when control of the goods or services passes to the customer.
For the provision of a license, this is dependent on whether the license conveys a right of use or right of access to
the underlying intellectual property. The R&D services are recognized over time as the Company performs the
clinical trials and the customer benefits from those services. The Company identifies the performance obligations
in each contract with a customer. A performance obligation is a promise to deliver goods and services that is distinct
from other promises in the contract.
Where a contract contains more than one performance obligation, the Company allocates the transaction price
based on the stand-alone selling price of each separate performance obligation. The Company receives upfront
payments and variable consideration in the form of milestones. The Company uses the most likely method to
estimate variable consideration and includes such consideration in the transaction price and income if it is not highly
probable of reversal.
Income from licenses that convey a right to use intellectual property is recognized when the customer is able to use
that intellectual property. R&D services are recognized over the clinical study period based on an input method.
This method is calculated by the clinical trial costs incurred over the estimated costs to complete the study.
The Company provides management services, where it arranges clinical trials with an external provider on behalf
of a customer. In these arrangements, the Company is acting as agent and recognizes the management fee as
income as the management services are delivered.
Revenues generated by collaboration agreements are recognized under “Income”. Refer to Note 13.
2.23 Information by segment
The Group operates in only one activity segment, the research and development of pharmaceutical products, with
the objective to market such products subject to the success of the development phases and the obtention of the
required regulatory approvals. The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of the Company reviews the consolidated
statement of operations of the Group on an aggregated basis and manages the operations of the Group as a single
operating segment.
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The Group currently generates no revenue from the sales of pharmaceutical products and its activities are not
affected by any significant seasonal effect.
The geographical analysis of non-current assets is as follows:

(Amounts in thousands of EUR)
Switzerland
France
Australia
Total non-current assets

As at December 31,

2018

2017

1,544.2
59.6
1,603.8

1,767.9
48.0
1,815.9

The geographical analysis of operating expenses and subsidies is as follows:

Operating expenses

Subsidies

(Amounts in thousands of EUR)

As at December 31,

As at December 31,

Switzerland
France
Australia
Total operating expenses

11,389.9
2,962.8
3,180.9
17,533.6

2018

2017

16,767.4
4,012.4
1,339.9
22,119.7

2018

593.2
1,324.7
1,917.9

2017

794.8
564.2
1,359.0

2.24 Presentation of the Income Statement
The Group presents its income statement by function. The nature of the expenses presented in the income
statement by function is disclosed in Note 14 of the Notes to the financial statements.
Financial income (expenses), net, includes mainly:
•
•

expenses related to the financing of the Group;
foreign exchange gains or losses.

2.25 Other comprehensive loss
Other income and expense items in the period recognized directly in equity are presented in “Other comprehensive
loss”.
2.26 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income attributable to Company shareholders by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the financial year.
Diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the net income attributable to the holders of ordinary shares
and the weighted average number of the ordinary shares in circulation by the effects of all the potential dilutive
ordinary shares.
If, when calculating diluted earnings per share, the inclusion of instruments giving deferred access to capital (stockoptions) creates an anti‐dilutive effect, those instruments are not taken into account. Refer to Note 17.
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Note 3: Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of license and software assets.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(Amounts in thousands of EUR)
GROSS VALUE

License

Statement of financial position at December 31, 2016
Additions
Statement of financial position at December 31, 2017
Additions
Statement of financial position at December 31, 2018

Software

1,095.6
1,095.6
44.2
1,139.8

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION
Statement of financial position at December 31, 2016
Increase
Statement of financial position at December 31, 2017
Increase
Statement of financial position at December 31, 2018

-

NET BOOK VALUE
At December 31, 2016
At December 31, 2017
At December 31, 2018

1,095.6
1,095.6
1,139.8

Total

22.0
42.5
64.5
2.2
66.7

1,117.6
42.5
1,160.1
46.4
1,206.5

16.3
13.3
29.6
13.7
43.3

16.3
13.3
29.6
13.7
43.3

5.7
34.9
23.4

1,101.3
1,130.5
1,163.2

Pursuant to the Exclusive License Agreement entered into with bioMérieux in 2006 and to the Exclusive License
Agreement on Companion Diagnostic signed with bioMérieux in 2015, the Group became liable in 2016 to make
milestone payments of € 957 relating to the launch of a phase IIb clinical trial, of which € 907 was paid during 2016
and € 50 was due as of December 31, 2016 and was paid during 2017.
Pursuant to an Exclusive License Agreement entered into with the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and
Stroke (NINDS), part of the U.S. National Institutes of Health (NIH), in October 2018, the Company committed to
make an up-front payment of USD 50 (€ 44.2), which was paid during the fourth quarter of 2018.
Neither of these licenses is currently amortized as the marketing approval for the relevant products has not yet been
obtained. The Group performed an assessment of its licenses in the context of its annual impairment test. Given
the success of the Group’s development activities and its market capitalisation of € 50 million at December 31,
2018, level 1 of the fair value hierarchy, the Group concluded that no impairment was required under the provisions
of IAS 36.
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Note 4: Property, plant and equipment
Property plant and equipment consist mainly of laboratory equipment, leasehold improvements and IT equipment.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Amounts in thousands of EUR)

Machinery
and
equipment

Office and
computer
equipment,
furniture

Fixtures and
fittings

Total

GROSS VALUE
Statement of financial position at December 31, 2016
Additions
Disposals
Statement of financial position at December 31, 2017
Additions
Statement of financial position at December 31, 2018

215.8
19.8
235.6
18.5
254.1

22.6
3.6
(5.0)
21.2
12.0
33.2

188.5
7.2
195.7
195.7

426.9
30.6
(5.0)
452.5
30.5
483.0

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
Statement of financial position at December 31, 2016
Increase
Decrease
Statement of financial position at December 31, 2017
Increase
Statement of financial position at December 31, 2018

209.5
6.1
215.6
8.9
224.5

8.7
2.9
(5.0)
6.6
4.4
11.0

55.0
50.1
105.1
41.7
146.8

273.2
59.1
(5.0)
327.3
55.0
382.3

6.3
20.0
29.6

13.9
14.6
22.2

133.5
90.6
48.9

153.7
125.2
100.7

NET BOOK VALUE
At December 31, 2016
At December 31, 2017
At December 31, 2018
No impairment was required under the provisions of IAS 36.

Note 5: Financial assets
FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Amounts in thousands of EUR)
Liquidity contract
Deposits
Non-current financial assets
Deposits
Derivatives
Loans granted to employees
Current financial assets

12/31/2018

12/31/2017

164.8
175.1
339.9

352.7
174.7
527.4

34.1
34.1

16.4
49.2
65.6

Non-current financial assets include the cash reserve related to the liquidity contract entered into following the initial
public offering of the Company in April 2016 (refer to Note 8), and a bank security deposit related to the lease of
the Company’s premises.
Current financial assets at December 31, 2018 include the restricted portion of cash that secures the lease of the
Company’s former premises. Current financial assets at December 31, 2017, comprised:
•

Financial derivatives consisting of currency (EUR vs. AUD) call and put options purchased by the Company
to cover the foreign exchange risk resulting from the costs of its Type 1 diabetes study being conducted in
Australia. These derivatives are accounted for at fair value through profit and loss and have given rise to
a charge of € 18 in the 2017 financial year and € 16 in the 2018 financial year.

•

A loan granted to an employee which was fully repaid in 2018.
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Note 6: Other current assets
OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
(Amounts in thousands of EUR)
Research Tax Credits (1)
Value Added Tax
Prepaid expenses
Advance payments (2)
Income tax
Other
Total other current assets

12/31/2018

12/31/2017

2,620.8
240.3
379.2
104.5
4.7
103.4
3,452.9

1,147.3
180.8
177.8
388.1
4.5
20.0
1,918.5

(1) Research tax credits (RTC)
GeNeuro Innovation SAS has been granted RTCs pursuant to the provisions of articles 244 quater B and 49 septies
F of the French General Tax Code.
The following amounts have been recognized as receivables and a corresponding reduction in expense in the
period that the qualifying expenses were made, and are settled in cash in the following year:
•
•

CIR 2017: € 795, with reimbursement received in March 2019; and
CIR 2018: € 593, with reimbursement expected in the fourth quarter of 2019.

Since January 1, 2017, the Group also benefits from RTCs for its activities in Australia. Australian RTCs are usually
assessed based on the Australian tax year, which end on June 30 of each year. Accordingly, GeNeuro Australia
Pty Ltd made a first RTC assessment of AUD 284 (€ 193 at the 2017 average rate) at June 30, 2017, based on
expenses incurred up to that date; this first RTC assessment was reimbursed in December 2017. Given that the
company’s financial year end is December 31 of each year, rather than June 30 as per the Australian tax year,
GeNeuro Australia Pty Ltd has requested and has received approval for its RTC assessment accounting year to
end on December 31 of each year. The company has accordingly lodged an RTC claim for the period from July 1
to December 31, 2017, which was assessed at AUD 547 (€ 372 at the 2017 average rate) based on expenses
incurred during the second half of 2017. This amount was reimbursed by the Australian Tax Authorities in August
2018. For the 2018 financial year, the company has lodged an RTC claim assessed at AUD 2,093 (€ 1,325 at the
2018 average rate) based on R&D expenses incurred during 2018. This amount is expected to be reimbursed by
the Australian Tax Authorities during 2019.
(2) Advance payments
Advance payments comprise payments made to service providers involved with the Company’s clinical trials.

Note 7: Financial assets and liabilities and impact on income statement
The Group’s assets and liabilities are measured as follows for each year:

(Amounts in thousands of EUR)
Statement of financial position
Other non-current financial assets
Current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total Assets
Non-current financial liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Current financial liabilities
Trade payables
Other current liabilities
Total Liabilities

Value - Statement of financial position as
per IFRS 9

12/31/2018
Carrying Amount
of Financial
Position

Fair value

339.9
34.1
8,961.4
9,335.4
186.2
132.4
34.1
5,434.6
914.5
6,701.8

339.9
34.1
8,961.4
9,335.4
186.2
132.4
34.1
5,434.6
914.5
6,701.8
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Fair value
Fair value
through profit
through OCI
and loss
-

-

Amortized
cost
339.9
34.1
8,961.4
9,335.4
186.2
132.4
34.1
5,434.6
914.5
6,701.8
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Statement of financial position

Value - Statement of financial position
as per IFRS 9

12/31/2017

(Amounts in thousands of EUR)

Carrying Amount
of Financial
Position

Other non-current financial assets
Current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total Assets
Non-current financial liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Trade payables
Other current liabilities
Total Liabilities

(Amounts in thousands of EUR)
Assets
Assets at fair value through profit and loss
Liabilities
Liabilities measured at amortized cost :
reimbursable advance

Fair value
Fair value
through profit
through OCI
and loss

Fair value

527.4
65.6
26,602.4
27,195.4
215.0
83.8
3,473.8
4,813.3
8,585.9

527.4
65.6
26,602.4
27,195.4
215.0
83.8
3,473.8
4,813.3
8,585.9

-

Impacts - 2018 consolidated
income statement
Change in fair
Interest
value

-

Amortized
cost
527.4
65.6
26,602.4
27,195.4
215.0
83.8
3,473.8
4,813.3
8,585.9

Impacts - 2017 consolidated
income statement
Change in fair
Interest
value

21.3

-

-

(4.1)

(1.6)

-

Note 8: Capital
COMPOSITION OF SHARE CAPITAL
(number of shares)

12/31/2018

Common bearer shares
Total
Nominal value (in CHF)
Approximate nominal value (in EUR)

12/31/2017

14,658,118

14,658,118

14,658,118

14,658,118

0.05 CHF
0.04 €

0.05 CHF
0.04 €

This number of shares excludes stock options granted to certain employees, directors and consultants that have
not yet been exercized.
Share capital
As at December 31, 2018, the Company’s share capital amounted to € 614,721 (CHF 732,905.90, converted into
euros at the applicable historical exchange rate) and was divided into 14,658,118 common bearer shares with a
nominal value of CHF 0.05. All shares are fully paid up.
Authorized capital
Following the May 24, 2018, shareholders’ meeting, the authorized capital amounts to 7,329,059 bearer shares of
CHF 0.05 nominal value each; the approval for this authorized capital lapses on May 24, 2020.
Conditional capital
Following the April 14, 2016, shareholders’ meeting, the “part I” conditional capital includes 2,198,717 bearer shares
of CHF 0.05 nominal value, to be issued upon exercise of stock options granted to employees, directors and
consultants in the context of an incentive plan.
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A “part II” conditional capital was also created during that shareholders’ meeting. It includes 2,198,717 bearer
shares of CHF 0.05 nominal value, to be issued upon exercise of stock options or conversion rights linked to loans,
or similar bond issues.
Capital management
Following its initial public offering on Euronext Paris, the Company entered in May 2016 into a liquidity contract with
the Gilbert Dupont brokerage house in Paris, in order to reduce the share price’s intra day volatility.
In this context, in 2016 the Company provided € 750 to this broker to enable it to buy and sell the Company’s shares.
The share of the contract that is invested in treasury shares by this broker is accounted for as a reduction in the
Company’s consolidated equity. The Company can terminate the contract at any time. Pursuant to this contract,
66,507 treasury shares were accounted for as a reduction in shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2018 (37,532
shares at December 31, 2017). Results from the sale of such treasury shares are also directly applied to
shareholders’ equity.

MOVEMENT OF LIQUIDITY ACCOUNT

12/31/2018

Initial balance (thousands of shares)

37.5

Shares purchased (thousands of shares)

12/31/2017
27.8

200.2

355.1

Shares sold (thousands of shares)

(171.2)

(345.4)

Year-end balance (thousands of shares)

66.5

37.5

Purchases of shares (thousands of EUR)
Sales of shares (thousands of EUR)

Net movement of liquidity contract (thousands of EUR)

1,194.3

2,824.7

(1,006.4)

(2,817.3)

187.9

7.4

Dividends
The Company has paid no dividends in the financial years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018.

Note 9: Stock options and common shares granted as part of an incentive plan
Share awards to directors
Holders of ordinary shares obtained as part of an incentive plan created for two board members (11/2015 plan) are
subject to a restriction period during which the shares cannot be transferred, this restriction being lifted by 25%
every twelve months and therefore fully waived after 48 months.
Upon termination of each director’s service, the Company has no present obligation to repurchase or settle the
shares in cash.
Stock options
The Company has issued stock options as part of an equity incentive plan. The stock options 04/2010 and 04/2013
vested fully as of April 2013 and can be exercized until April 16, 2019.
All vested options not exercized in the 12 month-period following the departure are forfeited. The Group has no
legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle any of the stock options in cash.
Performance Share Option Units (“PSOU”)
From 2016 to 2018, the Company has granted Performance Share Option Units (“PSOU”) to its management.
PSOUs enable the beneficiaries, under conditions of vesting (service period) and non-market performance
conditions, to be awarded stock options. The service period condition ended on December 31, 2018; following this
and based on the achievement of each recipient’s performance conditions, the Board of Directors determined on
February 27, 2019, for each recipient the actual number of stock options to be awarded in replacement of the
PSOUs originally granted; this number varied between 95% and 107% of the initial grant of PSOUs. Stock options
thus awarded may be exercized during the five years until February 27, 2024. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle any of the stock options in cash.
Share purchase options
In 2017 and 2018, the Company has granted its employees and management share purchase options under an
equity incentive plan. The share purchase options vest, without performance conditions, in the following tranches:
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for the 2017 and February 2018 options, over three years as follows: one third on the first anniversary of
their grant date, and then one sixth every six months thereafter. They may then be exercized during the
five years following the end of the vesting period.
For the September 2018 options: over four years as follows: 25% on the first anniversary of their grant
date, and then 12.5% every six months thereafter. They may then be exercized during the ten years
following the end of the vesting period.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle any of the stock options in cash.
The following tables summarize the assumptions adopted in the IFRS 2 valuation:
Number of
options issued /
Shares granted
with a restriction
period

Allocation date

Exercise
price

Stock-options 04/2010
Stock-options 04/2013
Shares granted to Board members 11/2015

123,000
3,000
45,000

4.00 CHF
4.00 CHF
N/A

PSOU 06/2016 (1)
PSOU 01/2017 (1)
PSOU 02/2017 (1)
PSOU 02/2018 (1)
Stock-options 02/2017 - part 1
Stock-options 02/2017 - part 2
Stock-options 02/2018
Stock-options 09/2018

606,400
35,000
15,000
20,000
42,500
7,500
22,500
158,540

13.00 €
13.00 €
13.00 €
13.00 €
13.00 €
13.00 €
13.00 €
2.73 €

(1)

Market
price at
time of
grant

Exercise
period

Risk-free
rate

Volatility

*

Fair value at
grant date per
option / share

N/A
N/A
N/A

5.5 years
5 years
N/A

50.5%
50.3%
N/A

1.11%
0.05%
N/A

1.46
1.40
27.99

9.28 €
10.19 €
9.29 €
6.28 €
9.67 €
9.39 €
6.20 €
3.66 €

5 years
5 years
5 years
5 years
5 years
5 years
5 years
10 years

58.8%
53.6%
53.6%
50.0%
53.6%
53.6%
50.0%
50.0%

-1.09%
-0.86%
-0.87%
-0.77%
-0.94%
-0.94%
-0.75%
0.00%

2.29
2.48
1.74
0.14
2.50
2.35
0.80
1.74

Reflects the number of PSOUs granted originally; the actual number of stock options granted in February 2019, at the
expiry of the PSOU Plan, is 602,335 for the 2016 Plan, 36,400 and 15,000, respectively, for the 2017 Plans and 18,500
for the 2018 Plan.

Evolution of the number of outstanding options
Number of options

Stock
Stock
options options PSOU Plan
04/2010 04/2013 06/2016
(1)

December 31, 2016
Issued
Adjustment of number of PSOUs based
on performance conditions
Exercised
Forfeited
December 31, 2017
Issued
Adjustment of number of PSOUs based
on performance conditions (2)
Exercised
Forfeited
December 31, 2018
Number of shares to be issued
Number of options/PSOUs vested
as at December 31, 2018

(1)
(2)

(1)

115,000
(1,000)
114,000
-

3,000
-

Stock
PSOU
PSOU
options
Plan
Plan
02/201701/2017 02/2017
part 1

624,282
-

35,000

15,000

42,500

Stock
PSOU
Stock
Stock
options
Plan
options options
02/201702/2018 02/2018 09/2018
part 2
7,500

-

-

-

4,247

1,050

-

-

-

-

-

3,000
-

628,529
-

36,050
-

15,000
-

(1,000)
41,500
-

7,500
-

20,000

22,500

-

(26,194)

-

-

-

(1,500)

-

(8,000)
106,000
106,000

(3,000)
-

602,335
602,335

350
36,400
36,400

15,000
15,000

(2,000)
39,500
39,500

7,500
7,500

18,500
18,500

22,500
22,500

106,000

-

602,335

36,400

15,000

20,250

3,750

18,500

-

158,540
158,540
158,540
-

Total

742,282
100,000
5,297
(1,000)
(1,000)
845,579
201,040
(27,344)
(11,000)
(2,000)
1,006,275
1,006,275
802,235

Reflects the stock split effected in April 2016.
The PSOU plan has matured on December 31, 2018, and the Company’s Board of Directors made a final determination on
February 27, 2019, on the number of stock options to be awarded under the PSOU Plan, in replacement of the PSOUs.
Accordingly, a total of 672,235 stock options, with an exercise price of €13 per share, has been awarded in replacement of
the 701,695 PSOUs vested at December 31, 2018. The table above reflects this final determination of awarded stock options.

Valuation of stock options and common shares granted as part of an incentive plan
The fair value of the options was measured using an adjusted Black & Scholes option pricing model, with included
the following factors:
•
The price of the underlying shares was deemed to be equal to the investor subscription price or was
calculated by reference to internal valuations;
•
The risk‐free rate was selected by reference to the average lifetime of the instruments;
•
Volatility was estimated by reference to a sample of biotechnology companies listed on Euronext and SIX
(Switzerland), at the date when the instruments were granted, and over a period equivalent to the lifetime
of the option.
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The fair value of the common shares granted under an incentive plan is equal to the share price at the grant date
less the purchase price paid by the allottee.
Breakdown of charges recognized in accordance with IFRS 2 for the relevant periods

Grant date
Shares granted to board members 11/2015
PSOUs 06/2016
PSOUs 01/2017
PSOUs 02/2017
Stock options 02/2017- part 1
Stock options 02/2017- part 2
Stock options 02/2018
PSOUs 02/2018
Stock options 09/2018
Total
(Amounts in thousands of EUR)
Grant date
Shares granted to board members 11/2015
PSOUs 06/2016
PSOUs 01/2017
PSOUs 02/2017
Stock options 02/2017- part 1
Stock options 02/2017- part 2
Total

Accumulated
expense at
opening
519.0
961.3
29.8
13.0
51.8
10.0
1,585.0

Accumulated
expense at
opening
391.4
477.4
868.8

Expense
67.2
484.0
30.0
14.0
29.6
6.0
10.0
3.0
46.0
689.8
12/31/2017
Expense
127.6
483.9
29.8
13.0
51.8
10.0
716.1

Accumulated
expense at
12/31/2018
586.3
1,445.3
59.8
27.0
81.4
16.0
10.0
3.0
46.0
2,274.9

Accumulated
expense at
12/31/2017
519.0
961.3
29.8
13.0
51.8
10.0
1,584.9

Note 10: Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities include the security deposit received from the sub-tenant of the Company’s former premises
(refer to Note 19.1) and research grants received in the form of reimbursable advances (refer to Note 10.1).

CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
(Amounts in thousands of EUR)
Reimbursable advance (Note 10.1)
Deposits
Non-current financial liabilities
Deposits
Current financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities
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12/31/2018

12/31/2017

186.2
186.2

182.1
32.9
215.0

34.1
34.1

-

220.3

215.0
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10.1 Reimbursable advance

CHANGE IN REIMBURSABLE ADVANCE
(Amounts in thousands of EUR)
At December 31, 2016
Subsidies
Financial expenses
At December 31, 2017
Subsidies
Financial expenses
At December 31, 2018

183.3
(2.8)
1.6
182.1
4.1
186.2

A reimbursable advance was granted to GeNeuro Innovation SAS by Bpifrance on September 16, 2011 in the form
of a € 600 interest-free, reimbursable innovation loan facility to develop a diagnostic test and a therapeutic solution
for polyradiculoneuropathies.
Instalments may be drawn down under the Bpifrance contract as follows:
•
€ 200 at the effective date of the contract (drawn);
•
€ 250 on project progress (not drawn);
•
€ 150 at the end of the project (not drawn as project is not completed).
To date, GeNeuro Innovation has only drawn € 200 from this Bpifrance loan facility.
Further to the amendment signed on March 30, 2016, the first date of repayment has been postponed to the end of
the project, which is scheduled for June 30, 2020.
The quarterly repayments (based on the full available amount of € 600 of the loan facility) are scheduled as follows:
o € 7.5 (or 1.25% of the principal drawn)
from June 30, 2020 to March 31, 2021
o € 17.5 (or 2.9167% of the principal drawn) from June 30, 2021 to March 31, 2022
o € 27.5 (or 4.5833% of the principal drawn) from June 30, 2022 to March 31, 2023
o € 42.5 (or 7.0833% of the principal drawn) from June 30, 2023 to March 31, 2024
o € 55.0 (or 9.1667% of the principal drawn) from June 30, 2024 to March 31, 2025
Furthermore, the agreement provides for early repayments on March 31 of each year, beginning on January 1,
2013, of amounts corresponding to 42.19% of the ex-tax proceeds from the sale or assignment of licenses, patents
or knowhow relating to all or part of the results of the aided project, received in the previous year, as well as 42.19%
of the ex-tax proceeds generated by the marketing or use by the beneficiary, for its own purposes, of prototypes,
pre-series or models produced as part of the aided project. These early repayments are due until full repayment by
the company of the grant received. To date, the company has generated no proceeds in relation to this project and
accordingly no early repayment has taken place.
This reimbursable advance does not bear annual interest and, as a result, has been treated under IFRS as an
interest-free loan for the company. As the conditions are more favorable than market rates, the difference between
the amount of the advance at historical cost and the advance discounted at market rates is considered as a public
grant.

Note 11: Defined benefit obligation
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
Amounts in thousands of EUR

France

Switzerland

Total

At December 31, 2018

94.8

1,700.7

1,795.5

At December 31, 2017

69.4

1,424.4

1,493.8

11.1 French Employees
Defined benefit obligations for French employees result in a provision for a retirement indemnity to be paid by the
Group at the date of retirement, measured in accordance with the applicable collective bargaining agreement of the
pharmaceutical industry.
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The main actuarial assumptions used to measure retirement packages are as follows:
ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS
12/31/2018
12/31/2017

Age at retirement

Voluntary retirement age 65 to 67

Collective agreements
Discount rate (IBOXX Corporates AA )
Mortality table
Salary revaluation rate
Turnover rate*
Social security expense ratio
Management
Non-management

Pharmaceutical industry
1.57%
1.30%
INSEE 2017
INSEE 2017
1.50%
1.50%
High
High
45%
45%

43%
41%

* Turnover rates assumptions are summarized as follows:

-

From 20 to 30 years old : from 18.3% to 10.9%
From 30 to 40 years old : from 10.9% to 6.3%
From 40 to 50 years old : from 6.3% to 4.2%
From 50 to 60 years old : from 4.2% to 0%
From 60 to 67 years old : 0%

The following shows the change in retirement indemnity:
POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION
(Amounts in thousands of EUR)

Post-employment
benefit obligations

At December 31, 2016
Service costs
Financial costs

56.7
(2.9)
0.7

Actuarial (gains) losses
At December, 2017
Service costs
Financial costs

14.9
69.4
9.8
0.9

Actuarial (gains) losses
At December, 2018

14.7
94.8

Sensitivity analysis as at December 31, 2018
Changes in certain actuarial assumptions could result in substantial changes in the post employment benefit
obligation. They can be summarized as follows:

(Amounts in thousands of euros)
Sensitivity analysis

Turnover

Low

Post employment benefit obligation

125

Sensitivity analysis

1%

Post employment benefit obligation

90

Sensitivity analysis
0.57%
Post employment benefit obligation

106
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Selected
assumption : high
119
95
Salary revaluation rate
Selected
2%
assumption: 1.5%
95
100
Discount rate
Selected
assumption:
2.57%
1.57%
95
86
Medium
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Sensitivity analysis as at December 31, 2017
Changes in certain actuarial assumptions could result in substantial changes in the post employment benefit
obligation. They can be summarized as follows:

(Amounts in thousands of euros)
Sensitivity analysis

Turnover

Low

Post employment benefit obligation

94.7

Sensitivity analysis

1%
65.2

Post employment benefit obligation
Sensitivity analysis

0.30%

Post employment benefit obligation

78.1

Selected
assumption : high
89.8
69.4
Salary revaluation rate
Selected
2%
assumption: 1.5%
69.4
73.8
Discount rate
Selected
assumption:
2.30%
1.30%
69.4
62.1
Medium

The Group estimates that changes in other assumptions would cause no significant impact on liabilities.
11.2 Swiss Employees
The defined benefit obligation related to the so-called “Second Pillar” Swiss pension scheme is assessed using the
following assumptions:

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS

12/31/2018

12/31/2017

Voluntary retirement age :
64 female / 65 male

Age at retirement
Discount rate
Demographic basis
Salary increase
Pension increase
Interest credited on saving accounts
Turnover rate

0.85%

0.75%

LPP 2015
generation
1.00%
0.50%
0.85%
10.00%

LPP 2015
generation
1.00%
0.50%
0.75%
10.00%

Mortality rate
Assumptions regarding future mortality are set based on advice, published statistics and experience. The weighted
average duration of the defined benefit obligation included in the statement of financial position date is as follows:

12/31/2018
Weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation
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Changes in the defined benefit obligation and in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows:
Defined benefit Fair value of plan
Benefit liability
obligation
assets

Amounts in thousands of EUR
At December 31, 2016

3,397.0

Service costs

175.1

Financial interests

2,391.5
-

1,005.5
175.1

26.6

20.9

155.7

155.7

-

(375.1)
(17.7)
1,036.6
(33.9)
545.8
511.9
4,927.8

(266.0)
(89.4)
1,036.6
9.0
9.0
155.7
3,503.4

(109.1)
71.7
(9.0)
(33.9)
545.8
502.9
(155.7)
1,424.4

380.5

-

380.5

36.6

27.2

Employee Contribution

163.6

163.6

-

Impact of plan amendment

261.6

-

261.6

189.6
1,031.9
(219.0)
(81.7)
(120.8)
(202.5)
5,538.2

139.5
330.3
(219.0)
9.1
9.1
213.7
3,837.5

50.1
701.6
(9.1)
(81.7)
(120.8)
(211.6)
(213.7)
1,700.7

Employee Contribution
Currency effects
Sub-total included in income statement
Benefits (paid) / received
Return on plan assets (excluding financial interests)
Actuarial changes arising from changes in financial assumptions
Other actuarial (gain) / loss
Sub-total included in "Other Comprehensive Income"
Contributions by employer
At December 31, 2017
Service costs
Financial interests

Currency effects
Sub-total included in income statement
Benefits (paid) / received
Return on plan assets (excluding financial interests)
Actuarial changes arising from changes in financial assumptions
Other actuarial (gain) / loss
Sub-total included in "Other Comprehensive Income"
Contributions by employer
At December 31, 2018

5.7

9.4

(1) The plan amendment in 2018 corresponds to the new executive management pension plan.

Sensitivity analysis as at December 31, 2018 and as at December 31, 2017
Changes in certain actuarial assumptions could result in substantial changes in the post employment benefit
obligation.
They can be summarized as follows on December 31, 2018:

Salary revaluation rate

(Amounts in thousands of EUR)

Selected
1.50%
assumption: 1%
5,538.2
5,497.4
5,580.8
Discount rate
Selected
0.25%
assumption:
1.25%
0.85%
5,538.2
6,152.3
5,011.1
Rate of pension increase
Selected
0.00%
assumption:
1.00%
0.50%
5,538.2
5,212.5
5,900.3

Sensitivity analysis

0.50%

Post employment benefit obligation

Sensitivity analysis
Post employment benefit obligation

Sensitivity analysis
Post employment benefit obligation
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They can be summarized as follows on December 31, 2017:

Salary revaluation rate

(Amounts in thousands of EUR)

Selected
1.50%
assumption: 1%
4,927.8
4,885.6
4,972.1
Discount rate
Selected
0.25%
assumption:
1.25%
0.75%
4,927.8
5,417.3
4,511.0
Rate of pension increase
Selected
0.00%
assumption:
1.00%
0.50%
4,927.8
4,687.7
5,195.4
0.50%

Sensitivity analysis
Post employment benefit obligation

Sensitivity analysis
Post employment benefit obligation

Sensitivity analysis
Post employment benefit obligation

The estimated Company contributions to pension plans for the financial year 2019 amount to € 179.
The categories of plan assets, based on an asset/liability matching analysis, and their respective allocation, are as
follows:

12/31/2018
75.2
2,159.4
246.4
564.1
651.6
140.8
3,837.5

Allocation in K€
Cash
Bonds
Shares
Real estate
Mortgages
Alternative investments
Total

12/31/17
101.6
2,081.1
171.7
465.9
585.1
98.1
3,503.5

The benefit payments for the next ten years (in thousands of euros) are broken down as follows:
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024-2028

113.1
90.2
69.6
55.9
48.2
358.8

Note 12: Other current liabilities and contract liability
12.1 Trade payables
The amount of trade payables is consistent with the expenses incurred by the Group as part of its clinical trials and
the payment terms agreed by the suppliers and service providers.
12.2 Other current liabilities

OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
(Amounts in thousands of EUR)

12/31/2018

12/31/2017

Personnel and related accounts

671.6

791.8

Social security and other social institutions

229.9

326.1

Other

13.0

Advances received from Servier - ANGEL-MS study
Total other current liabilities
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Following Servier’s notice to the Company that it would not exercise its option to extend its license on the Company’s
main product candidate, temelimab, in multiple sclerosis, the ANGEL-MS extension study, which was being
managed by the Company on behalf of Servier, was terminated in the fourth quarter of 2018 and no balance
remained at December 31, 2018.
12.3 Contract liability
CONTRACT LIABILITY
(Amounts in thousands of EUR)
Contract liability on Servier contract - current
Total current Contract liability

12/31/2018

12/31/2017

-

7,233.1

-

7,233.1

Note 13: Income
13.1 Agreement with Laboratoires Servier

INCOME
(amounts in thousands of EUR)
Development Collaboration Agreement with Laboratoires Servier (1)
ANGEL-MS Study (2)
Total income

12/31/2018

12/31/2017

7,233.1
230.0

14,593.8
355.0

7,463.1

14,948.8

(1) Development Collaboration agreement
On November 28, 2014, GeNeuro signed a “Development Collaboration and Option for a License Agreement”
(worldwide excluding USA and Japan) with Laboratoires Servier, France, for its lead compound in the field of
multiple sclerosis (the “Servier Agreement”).
The Servier Agreement provided for:
•

An up-front payment of € 8.0 million (gross, received in 2014) and milestone payments of € 29.5 million
linked to the completion, by GeNeuro, of the phase IIb clinical trial in multiple sclerosis, of which €17.5
million was received in 2015 and €12.0 million was received at the end of 2017 on the last visit of the last
patient of the phase IIb trial;

•

Additional milestone payments of €325 million, including € 15 million if Servier exercised its right to extend
the license on the GeNeuro lead compound in the multiple sclerosis indication for its territory and € 310
million of milestone payments, linked to regulatory filings, obtaining product marketing approval and
cumulative levels of sales;

•

Royalties based on Servier net sales.

Under IFRS 15 the contract contained two performance obligations.
1)

The provision of a license for the worldwide rights for temelimab (GNbAC1) (other than for the US and
Japan.) The initial license covers the period up to the end of Phase II with an extension option which allows
Servier to extend the license to Phase III and if approved to full commercialization rights.

2)

The provision of R&D services for Phase I and Phase II clinical trials

The up-front payment of € 8.0 million was allocated between the right of use license of Intellectual Property and the
provision of R&D services. The consideration allocated to the license was recorded when the right to use the
intellectual property was transferred in 2014. The consideration allocated to the R&D services was spread over
timeusing a “costs incurred over estimate costs to complete” methodology.
The € 29.5 million was allocated to the R&D services and spread over time using a costs incurred over estimated
costs to complete methodology. Out of this amount, the €12 million milestone is variable consideration. At inception
of the contract, this was not included in the transaction price because the amount was fully constrained until the last
patient last visit of Phase Ilb.
During 2017, this assumption was reviewed based on the likelihood that the final dose would be delivered, and it
was concluded to be highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized
would not occur. As a result, the € 12.0 million was included in the transaction price. A cumulative catch up
adjustment was made in 2017 based on the stage of completion at the end of the year and total income of € 14.6
million was recorded. As all milestones were received by December 31, 2017, a contract liability was recognized
on the balance sheet of € 7.2 million at the end of 2017. During 2018, the remaining revenue was recognized as
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the remaining services were delivered. No income was recognized during the second half of 2018 when all work
had been performed to the end of Phase IIb.
In September 2018, Servier decided not to extend the license and the contract was terminated at this date. There
were no remaining performance obligations.
(2) ANGEL-MS study
During 2016, Servier requested that the Company manage an additional Phase II extension study on behalf of
Servier (the ANGEL-MS clinical trial). Under this agreement, the Company arranged for a third party contract
research organization to complete the study in exchange for a management fee. The Company was not primarily
responsible for the work of the third party organization and had no obligation beyond its management contract. As
a result, the Company recorded income of € 355 in the 2017 financial year and € 230 in the 2018 financial year.
13.2 Other income
Other income relates to rental income derived from the sub-leasing of the Company’s former premises, under a
contract running until February 2019, which is the term of the master tenancy agreement for the premises.

Note 14: Breakdown by nature of expenses and income
14.1 Research and development expenses

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES
(Amounts in thousands of EUR)

12/31/2018

12/31/2017

Studies and research

(8,612.0)

(12,103.5)

Intellectual property

(316.4)

(569.8)

(6.7)

(230.7)

Travel, assignments, entertainment and marketing expenses
Raw materials and consumables
Rental expenses
Professional fees
Payroll expense

(52.0)

(72.1)

(264.5)

(307.6)

(85.3)

(161.0)

(3,164.1)

(3,737.0)

Amortization and depreciation

(48.6)

(50.4)

Share-based payment expense

(279.0)

(273.2)

Other
Research and Development Expenses
Research tax credits
Other subsidies
Subsidies
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(17.9)

(12,847.8)
1,917.9
-

(17,523.2)
1,359.0
2.8

1,917.9
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14.2 General and administrative expenses

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
(Amounts in thousands of EUR)

12/31/2018

Travel and assignments expenses

(544.4)

12/31/2017
(600.6)

Office expenses

(45.4)

(61.7)

Rental expenses

(143.1)

(186.5)

Professional fees

(1,380.6)

(1,241.9)

Payroll expense

(1,995.7)

(1,864.9)

Tax expense

(34.4)

(52.0)

Insurance expense

(26.4)

(31.5)

Postal and telecom expenses

(51.9)

(71.8)

Amortization and depreciation

(22.3)

(22.0)

Share-based payment expense

(410.8)

(442.9)

Other
General and administrative expenses

(30.8)

(20.7)

(4,685.8)

(4,596.5)

Note 15: Financial income (expenses), net
Net financial income (expenses) are broken down as follows:

FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSES), NET
(Amounts in thousands of EUR)
Other financial income
Financial income

12/31/2018
21.3
21.3
(31.0)
(229.5)
(260.5)
(239.2)

Other financial expenses
Foreign exchange losses
Financial expenses
Financial income (expenses), net

12/31/2017
0.3
0.3
(35.0)
(62.6)
(97.6)
(97.3)

Note 16: Income tax
Group income tax (expense) / income

INCOME TAX (EXPENSE) / INCOME
(Amounts in thousands of EUR)
Deferred tax
Income tax (expense) / income

12/31/2018
-

12/31/2017
-

Income tax rates and losses carried forward
Although the Group’s functional currency is the euro, the parent company, GeNeuro SA, must establish its Swiss
tax returns in CHF. Accordingly, carried-forward tax losses are denominated in CHF and are converted for
information purposes hereunder in euros at the December 31, 2018 closing rate.
At December 31, 2018, GeNeuro SA had carried-forward tax losses of € 42,754 (being CHF 48,179 converted at
the December 31, 2018 closing rate), compared with € 41,369 at December 31, 2017 (being CHF 48,411), split as
follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

€ 5,591 originated in 2018 and expiring in 2026
€ 4,558 originated in 2017 and expiring in 2025
€ 13,176 originated in 2016 and expiring in 2024
€ 5,905 originated in 2015 and expiring in 2023
€ 4,266 originated in 2013 and expiring in 2021
€ 4,444 originated in 2012 and expiring in 2020
€ 4,814 originated in 2011 and expiring in 2019
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The income tax rate applicable to the Company is the rate currently applicable in the Canton of Geneva, Switzerland,
which is 24.50 %.
GeNeuro Innovation SAS had carried forward tax losses of € 308 as at December 31, 2018.
The income tax rate applicable to GeNeuro Innovation SAS is the French income tax rate of 33.33%. This rate will
decrease gradually to reach 25 % in 2022.
GeNeuro Australia Pty Ltd had carried forward tax losses of € 2,611 (AUD 4,092) as at December 31, 2018.
The income tax rate applicable to GeNeuro Australia Pty Ltd is the Australian income tax rate of 27.5%.
Reconciliation between theoretical tax and effective tax

(Amounts in thousands of EUR)

12/31/2018

Net loss
Income tax expense
Loss before tax
Current tax rate in Geneva
Theoretical income tax at current tax rate in Geneva
Items not subject to tax

(8,327.8)
(8,327.8)
24.50%
2,040.3
(296.8)
(300.9)
(1,477.1)
34.5
0.00%

Share-based payments (1)
Unrecognized tax losses
Effect of different tax rates
Income tax (expense)
Effective tax rate
(1)

12/31/2017
(5,837.2)
(5,837.2)
24.50%
1,430.1
66.0
(186.6)
(1,309.5)
0.00%

Deferred tax asset is not recognized because it is not probable that future profits would arise that would allow the deferred
tax asset to be recovered.

Items not subject to tax include mainly research tax credits (non‐taxable operating income in France and Australia).
In 2017, the effect of different tax rates between the French tax rate of 33.33% and the Geneva tax rate of 24.5%
is € 23.3, fully offset by the -€ 23.3 difference in tax rates between the Australian tax rate of 27.5% and the Geneva
tax rate of 24.5%. In 2018, the effect of different tax rates between the French tax rate of 33.33% and the Geneva
tax rate of 24.5% is € 34.5, fully offset by the -€ 95.7 difference in tax rates between the Australian tax rate of 27.5%
and the Geneva tax rate of 24.5%.
Nature of deferred taxes

NATURE OF DEFERRED TAX
(Amounts in thousands of EUR)
Temporary differences
Swiss defined benefit obligation
Other
Loss carryforward Australia
Loss carryforward France
Loss carryforward Switzerland
Total of items with a nature of deferred tax assets
Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Net total of deferred tax assets

12/31/2018

12/31/2017

469.2
427.5
41.7
18.6
284.4
10,481.4
11,253.6
(11,249.0)
4.6

392.6
355.8
36.8
11.3
332.2
10,135.5
10,871.6
(10,865.5)
6.1

Temporary differences
Total of deferred tax liabilities

(4.6)
(4.6)

(6.1)
(6.1)

Net total of deferred tax assets (liabilities)

-

-

Given the uncertainty related to the Company’s ability to generate profits against which it would be able to apply
the carried forward losses, management did not recognize any deferred tax assets on the Group’s carried forward
losses.
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Note 17: Losses per share
Basic losses
“Basic losses per share” is calculated by dividing the net income attributable to the Company’s shareholders by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares issued during the financial year.
Diluted losses per share are calculated by adjusting basic losses per share for the dilutive effect of instruments
giving deferred rights to share capital (warrants, bonds, options). When the Group is in a loss-making position,
these instruments are not treated as dilutive since they would reduce the loss per share. For the periods reported,
diluted losses per share are therefore identical to basic losses per share.

BASIC LOSS PER SHARE

12/31/2018

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

12/31/2017

14,578,880

14,590,805

Number of potentially dilutive shares from exercise of options (1)

106,000

117,000

Net loss for the period (in thousands of EUR)
Basic loss per share (EUR/share)
Diluted loss per share (EUR/share)

(8,327.8)
(0.57)
(0.57)

(5,837.2)
(0.40)
(0.40)

(1): Number of potentially dilutive shares from options outstanding at December 31, 2018 – excluding Loyalty Bonus Options
which were formally granted on February 27, 2019. The shares resulting from the exercise of “in the money” options are not taken
into account in the calculation of diluted loss per share as these shares would have an anti-dilutive effect and would decrease the
loss per share.

Note 18: Related parties
18.1 Compensation due to members of the Board and Officers
One executive officer of the Company is also a member of the Board of Directors.
Aggregate compensation of the members of the Board and Officers was as follows (in €):

COMPENSATION DUE TO MEMBERS OF THE BOARD
AND OFFICERS

12/31/2018

Fixed compensation due
Variable compensation due
Benefits in kind
Employer contribution to pension scheme and other social contributions
Share-based payments
Attendance fees
TOTAL

1,545.8
383.8
34.4
447.3
759.8
73.9
3,245.0

12/31/2017
1,624.8
445.4
37.9
357.4
632.5
77.6
3,175.6

Note : variable compensation due was paid in February of the following year.

The Company has signed contracts with three members of its Board of Directors; two of the contracts were entered
into in 2015 and one in 2016. In accordance with these contracts and as compensation for services rendered, the
Company recorded attendance fees of € 78 in 2017 and € 74 in 2018.
No post‐employment benefits were granted to members of the Board or Officers, with the exception of the
mandatory and additional defined benefit scheme applicable for Swiss employees and executives under the second
pillar of the Swiss social security system, as described in Note 2.19.
All compensation components were fully paid in the year, except for the share-based payments compensation,
which is not due to be settled in cash, and the variable compensation which was paid in each case in the subsequent
year.
The variable components of compensation were allocated on the basis of performance criteria.
The methods used to calculate the fair value of share‐based payments are explained in Note 9.
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18.2 Advance on salary agreement with one of the managers
On May 3, 2016, the Company signed an advance on salary agreement with one of its managers for an amount of
€ 49 (CHF 58), out of which €49.2 was outstanding at December 31, 2017. This advance was fully repaid during
2018.
18.3 Related party transaction with Servier
The Company signed the Servier Agreement with Laboratoires Servier, France for its lead compound in the field of
multiple sclerosis, which was terminated by Servier in 2018 following its decision not to exercise its option for a
license. Servier is a privately-owned French pharmaceutical company that is also a shareholder of GeNeuro SA.
The key elements of the Servier Agreement are disclosed in Note 13.1.
18.4 Related party transaction with Institut Mérieux and bioMérieux
The Company signed an exclusive licensing contract with bioMérieux in 2006. BioMérieux is a French listed
company, majority-owned by Institut Mérieux; bioMérieux and Institut Mérieux are the sole shareholders of GNEH
SAS, which owns 33.88% of GeNeuro SA. The key elements of the licensing contract are disclosed in Note 19.3.
In addition, the Company has entered into a credit facility agreement with GNEH SAS in December 2018 – refer to
Note 19.5.

Note 19: Off‐balance‐sheet commitments
19.1 Operating leases
Leases on premises
As part of its activity, the Group signed operating leases on the following premises:
Head office
New address
Address
Duration of lease
Former offices
Address
Duration of lease
Other premises
Address
Duration of lease
Early departure

3 Chemin du Pré-Fleuri – CH-1228 Plan-Les Ouates – Geneva – Switzerland (« BlueBox »)
November 1, 2016 – October 31, 2021, with the option to extend until October 31, 2026
18 Chemin des Aulx – CH-1228 Plan-Les Ouates – Geneva – Switzerland (“CTN”)
February 16, 2014 – February 16, 2019
These premises are currently sub-let.
Bioparc – 60 avenue Rockefeller – 69008 Lyon – France
July 1, 2016 – June 30, 2025
Every three years, with a 6-month notice period

Expenses and commitments
The rental payments incurred in 2018 and the commitments up to the next potential rent breaks were as follows:

Property lease contracts

Plan-Les-Ouates premises - CTN
Parking - CTN
Plan-Les-Ouates premises and parking - Bluebox
Lyon Bioparc premises
Total

Lease
effective
start-date

Lease enddate

02.16.2014
02.16.2014
11.01.2016
07.01.2016

02.16.2019
02.16.2019
10.31.2021
06.30.2025
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12/2018
expenses

59.0
7.0
299.0
32.0
397.0

Commitment until the next start-period or until
the next three-year period (French lease)
(amounts in thousands of euros)
Within one
year
7.8
0.7
280.1
32.1
320.7

Between one
and five years
513.4
80.3
593.7

More than
five years
-
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Sub-leasing contract
Address
Duration of lease

18 Chemin des Aulx – CH-1228 Plan-Les Ouates – Geneva – Switzerland
December 1, 2016 – February 15, 2019

Property lease sub-contracts
Plan-Les-Ouates premises - CTN
Parking - CTN
Total

Lease
effective
start-date

Lease enddate

12/2018
income

12.01.2016 02.15.2019
01.01.2017 02.15.2019

58.0
6.0
64.0

Commitment until the next start-period
(amounts in thousands of euros)
More than
Within one
Between one
five years
year
and five years
7.4
0.7
8.1
-

Guarantee
A rent deposit for € 160 (CHF 187) was provided to the landlords of the Plan-Les-Ouates premises, and is accounted
for as a non-current financial asset.
Leases on vehicles
The Group has leased three vehicles under operating leases.

VEHICLES LEASE CONTRACTS
(amounts in thousands of EUR)
Vehicle leases at December 31, 2017
Vehicle leases at December 31, 2018

< 1 year

24.8
16.5

1 ≥ 5 years

> 5 years

29.4
13.2

-

19.2 Commitments
The following table sets out by year the minimum payments and breakdown of the operating leases:

SIMPLE LEASE CONTRACT
OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENT
(amounts in thousands of EUR)
Property leases
Vehicle leases
Commitment at 12/31/2017
Property leases
Vehicle leases
Commitment at 12/31/2018

< 1 year

370.9
24.8
395.7
320.7
16.5
337.2

1 ≥ 5 years

> 5 years

788.9
29.4
818.3
593.7
13.2
606.9

-

-

Effective January 1, 2019, the Company will apply IFRS 16, which eliminates the distinction between operating
leases and finance leases and requires all leases to be recognized on the lessee’s balance sheet, in the form of an
asset (representing the right to use the rented asset during the duration of the contract) and of a liability
(corresponding to the future lease payments). The standard will also impact the presentation of the income
statement (allocation of expense between operating income and financial charges) and of the cash flow statement
(allocation of cash outflows between cash flow from operating activities and cash flow from financing activities).
The Company has estimated the impact on its financial statements of adopting IFRS 16, which is mandatory from
January 1, 2019, excluding certain low value items and short term leases. The estimated impact is detailed below:

Impact on Income statement
- property
- vehicles
- other equipment
Total

Annual
Unrealized
Number of lease Depreciation Interest currency
Net
contracts charge
charge
charge
gain/loss impact
2 311.0
-304.3
-10.7
-12.5 -16.6
1
6.0
-5.6
-0.5
0.0
-0.2
8.3
-7.9
-0.6
-0.2
-0.3
3
6 325.2
-317.8
-11.9
-12.7 -17.2
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Impact on Statement of Financial Position
- property
- vehicles
- other equipment
Total

Right-to- Prepaid
use assets expense
883.5
0.0
14.4
0.3
0.1
16.9
914.7
0.4

Non-current
lease
liability
583.2
8.6
9.1
601.0

Current
lease
liability
300.2
5.4
7.7
313.3

The Company will use the modified retrospective approach in applying IFRS 16. Under this approach, the
cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 is recognized as an adjustment to equity at the date of initial
application, which will be January 1, 2019.
19.3 Contingent liabilities and commitments in respect to the licensing Agreement with bioMérieux
In 2006, the Company signed an exclusive license agreement with bioMérieux, France (the “2006 Agreement”), for
the sole purpose of developing, manufacturing and selling products covered under bioMérieux patents, with
bioMérieux retaining the rights pertaining to diagnostics.
This 2006 Agreement provides for payments in Swiss francs. Amounts in euros presented below are provided for
information only, using the average foreign exchange rate of the related year.
Under this 2006 Agreement, the Company is committed to make the following payments:
•
An up-front payment of CHF 150, paid in 2006 (€ 138);
•
An annual contribution towards patent maintenance fees of CHF 50 (approximately € 43);
•
Milestone payments up to a total sum of CHF 72.6 million (approximately € 62.0 million):
o On commencement of the Phase IIa clinical trial in 2012, the first milestone was reached,
triggering a payment by the Company of CHF 200 (approximately € 185);
o The start of the Phase IIb clinical trial in 2016 triggered a payment by the Company of CHF 1,000
(€ 907).
o The start of a Phase IIa clinical trial in Type 1 diabetes triggered a contingent payment of CHF 200
(approximately € 171), to be paid only if certain conditions (such as entering a Phase III clinical
trial, or being sub-licensed for that indication) are met.
•
Royalties based on GeNeuro net licensing revenues and GeNeuro net sales.
In 2015, pursuant to an exclusive license agreement on companion diagnostics (the “Diagnostics Agreement”),
bioMérieux also granted an exclusive license on companion diagnostics. This Diagnostics Agreement commits the
Company to make milestone payments of up to € 100.
On the commencement of the Phase IIb clinical trial in 2016, a first milestone was reached, triggering an amount of
€ 50 paid by the Group to bioMérieux. The balance of € 50 will be due in the event of the start of a Phase III trial.
No royalties are due to bioMérieux under the Diagnostics Agreement.
19.4 Contingent liabilities and commitments in respect to the licensing Agreement with the US National
Institutes of Health (NIH).
In October 2018, the Company has entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with the National Institute of
Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS), part of the U.S. National Institutes of Health (NIH). The agreement
covers the development of an antibody program to block the activity of pHERV-K Env (pathogenic envelope protein
of the HERV-K family of Human Endogenous Retroviruses), a potential key factor in the development of ALS.
Pursuant to this agreement, the Company made an up-front payment of USD 50 (€ 44), and is committed to annual
minimum payments of USD 25 (approximately € 22) and milestone payments up to a total sum of USD 11.6 million
(approximately € 9.9 million) subject to clinical development achievements; in addition, GeNeuro will have to pay
the NIH royalties based on its net licensing revenues and net sales.
19.5 Credit Facility agreement with GNEH SAS
In December 2018, the Company entered into a €7.5 million Credit Facility Agreement with one of its shareholders,
GNEH SAS, itself a subsidiary of Institut Mérieux. Pursuant to this Credit Facility, the Company has the right to draw
the amount of the amount in up to 4 instalments, until May 31, 2019. The Credit Facility Agreement provides for an
availability fee of 1.30% to be paid to GNEH SAS on the undrawn portion of the Credit Facility. In case of drawdown, borrowings will be bear interest at a rate increasing progressively up to 12% p.a. until the facility's maturity
of June 2020. A first draw-down of €2.5 million was made and received on March 25, 2019.
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Note 20: Financial risk management and assessment
GeNeuro may find itself exposed to various types of financial risk: market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. GeNeuro
is implementing measures consistent with the size of the Group to minimize the potentially adverse effects of those
risks on its financial performance.
GeNeuro’s policy prohibits the use of financial instruments for speculative purposes.
Market risk
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk reflects the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in interest rates in the market. As the Group has no
floating-rate debt, the Group is not at risk of increases in debt servicing costs (refer to Note 10 for extent and nature
of fixed rate debt obligations). Changes in interest rate could affect returns achieved on cash and fixed term deposits
but this risk is not considered material given the current low returns on deposits held by the Group.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates
primarily to the Group’s operating activities in Australia (when expense is denominated in a different currency from
the Group’s presentation currency). The Group manages this foreign currency risk by hedging transactions that are
expected to occur within a maximum 6-month period. The Group hedges its exposure to fluctuations on the
translation into euro of its foreign operations in Australia using foreign currency options.
No options were outstanding at December 31, 2018. At December 31, 2017, the outstanding options were:
Type
Maturity
Amount
Strike price

12/31/2017
PUT EUR / CALL AUD
PUT EUR / CALL AUD
03/01/2018
05/25/2018
1,300,000 AUD
2,000,000 AUD
1.48 AUD per EUR
1.53 AUD per EUR

In addition, the Group is exposed to the risk of changes in the currency rate between the euro and the Swiss franc,
in which approximately 75% of its consolidated personnel and rental expenses are paid.
Any major development in the Group activity may result in an increase of its exposure to exchange rate risk. Should
such increase materialize, the Group would consider adopting an appropriate policy to hedge such risks.
Equity risk
The Company does not hold long or short‐term tradable equities on any regulated market.
Liquidity risk
Since its incorporation, the Group has primarily funded is growth through capital increase and additional funds
provided by research collaborations and research tax credits. The Group never had recourse to bank loans. As a
result, the Group is not exposed to liquidity risk through requests for early repayment of loans.
Significant R&D expenses have been incurred from the start of the Group's activities, generating negative cash
flows from operating activities, except in 2015 following the milestone payment by Servier of € 17.5 million.
Cash flows related to operating activities amounted to a negative € 17,495 compared with a negative € 7,646 for
the financial years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
As at December 31, 2018, the Group’s cash & cash equivalents amounted to € 8,996 (December 31, 2017:
€ 26,570).
As disclosed in Note 2.1 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors believes that
the Group has sufficient financial resources to cover its operating costs for at least one year from the date these
financial statements are issued and, as a result, is presenting the consolidated financial statements of the Group
on a going-concern basis.

- 35 -

IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements for the Financial Years Ended
December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017

Breakdown of financial liabilities, trade payable and other current liabilities by maturity
The following table shows the breakdown of financial liabilities, trade payable and other current liabilities in the
period presented:
12/31/2018

(Amounts in thousands of EUR)
Gross amount
Reimbursable advance
Deposits
Sub-total
Trade payables
Other current liabilities

200.0
34.1
234.1
5,819.6
941.9

1 ≥ 5 years

34.1
34.1
5,819.6
941.9

199.5
199.5
-

> 5 years
0.5
0.5
-

12/31/2017

(Amounts in thousands of EUR)
Gross amount
Reimbursable advance
Deposits
Sub-total
Trade payables
Other current liabilities

< 1 year

200.0
32.9
232.9
3,473.8
4,813.3

< 1 year

1 ≥ 5 years

3,473.8
4,813.3

60.8
32.9
93.7
-

> 5 years
139.2
139.2
-

The Group will continue to have major funding requirements in the future to fuel its strategy to develop temelimab
and new compounds through clinical trials. The precise extent of funding required is difficult to predict accurately,
and will largely depend in part on factors outside the Group’s control.
Areas subject to significant uncertainty include but are not limited to:
•
the ability to conduct successful clinical trials in multiple sclerosis, type 1 diabetes and other indications,
including the capacity to recruit in a timely manner patients for those studies,
•
the change in the regulatory landscape,
•
the approval for other drugs on the market that would potentially reduce the attractiveness for the approach
developed by GeNeuro.
Should the Group find itself unable to finance its own growth through partnership agreements, the Group would be
dependent on other sources of financing, including equity funding or research grants. See also Note 22.
Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is associated with deposits at banks and financial institutions and with other receivables.
The Group seeks to minimize the risk related to banks and financial institutions by placing cash deposits with highly
rated financial institutions. The maximum amount of credit risk is the carrying amount of the financial assets. As
outstanding receivables include mainly research tax credits granted by France and Australia, the Group does not
carry significant credit risk.
Cash balances held at December 31, 2018

Bank 1
Bank 2
Bank 3
Bank 4
Total

% of cash
balances
5.6%
4.8%
59.9%
29.7%
100.0%
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Short-term credit rating
of financial institution
Standard
Moody's
& Poors
A-1+
P-1
A-1+
P-1
P-1
A-1
A-1
n.a.

IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements for the Financial Years Ended
December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017

Note 21: Auditors’ fees
Audit fees due by the Group to its auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers SA, were the following:

Audit fees
(Amounts in thousands of EUR)
Audit Fees
Assurance services related to the IPO

2018
Financial Year
330.9
n/a

2017
Financial Year
345.9
n/a

Note 22: Post balance sheet events
In March 2019, the Company issued a first drawdown notice to GNEH SAS, for €2.5 million, which it received on
March 25, 2019.
At the date of approval of the financial statements by the Board of Directors, no other significant post balance sheet
events were identified.

- 37 -

